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Our Vision
“To be the icon of excellence in the production and marketing of Zimbabwe flavour tobacco”

Our Mission
“In support of our vision we will timely mobilize and distribute requisite resources, develop and operate 

efficient orderly marketing and information systems which satisfy the expectations of all stakeholders”

Our Values
Vision

Commitment

Teamwork and Cooperation

Integrity

Customer Orientation

Accountability
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General Information   

Auditors      Office of the Auditor General
       5th Floor, Burroughs House

       48 George Silundika Avenue

       Harare

       Conducted on their behalf by:
       PKF Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe)

       Registered Public Auditors

       8th Floor, Takura Housez

       67 Kwame Nkrumah Avenue

       Harare

Lawyers       Mawere and Sibanda
       10th Floor Chiedza House

       1st Street & Kwame Nkrumah Avenue

       Hussein Ranchod and Company

       Block 1,Arundel Office Park, Norfolk Road,

       Mount Pleasant

Registered office     P. O. Box 10214

Harare    

Business address     TIMB Complex
       429 Gleneagles Road

       Southerton, Harare, 

       Tel: 0242 621740; 621743; 621744

0772 145 166 – 169, 08677004624

E-mail: info@timb.co.zw 

Website: http://www.timb.co.zw

Principal Bankers     Agribank Limited

       BancABC Limited

       CBZ Bank

       Ecobank Zimbabwe Limited

       Stanbic Bank Zimbabwe Limited
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LETTER OF REMITTAL
 

The Honourable Dr A J Masuka
Minister of Lands, Agriculture, Fisheries, Water and Rural Resettlement

P Bag 7701

Causeway

HARARE

Dear Minister

In terms of Section 49 of the Public Finance Management Act, Chapter 22:19, I have pleasure in submitting for your 

consideration, the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board’s 2020 Annual Report and Audited Accounts for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Yours faithfully

PATRICK DEVENISH

CHAIRMAN
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It is a privilege to be presenting TIMB’s financial 

results for the year ended December 2020. The 

Board was appointed on 22nd May 2019 and this 

is the second year of operating. This year was affected 

significantly by Covid-19 pandemic which saw most 

business activity being constrained by lockdowns as 

Governments implemented measures to reduce the 

spread of the disease. The industry employed various 

initiatives to curb the impact of Covid-19. 

The Board continued with its key goals around 

increased compliance to regulations, improved 

viability of growers and increased sustainable tobacco 

production.

Strategic Thrust
The tobacco industry sector is key and a strategic 

driver for the attainment of a middle income status 

by 2030. The strategic orientation of the Board in 

PATRICK DEVENISH
CHAIRMAN

Chairman’s 
Report

INTRODUCTION
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2020 was focused on attaining this vision. Emphasis 

was on increased productivity in an orderly manner. 

Hence, the Board, in consultation with the industry 

came up with new regulations to be complied with 

by all contractors including minimum support levels 

for every contracted grower. Enforcement of the new 

regulations saw improved compliance to regulations 

and saved the industry from collapsing.

Financial Highlights
The board’s results are addressed fully in the audited 

financial statements. Inflation adjusted surplus for 

2020 totalled ZWL$88.2 million as compared to 

deficit of ZWL$82.7 million in 2019. Whilst inflation 

adjusted total comprehensive surplus for the year was 

ZWL$59.3 million, a decrease of 27% from prior year 

ZWL75.3 million.

Sustainability
The industry has committed to strengthen a culture 

of sustainable production. This has been in response 

to clarion calls from our customers i.e. global cigarette 

manufacturers requesting supply chains to integrate 

environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors 

into decisions and operational processes. All tobacco 

merchants have signed a pledge to produce tobacco 

in a sustainable manner by reducing tobacco’s 

carbon footprint on the environment, upholding 

good agricultural labour practice and improving the 

communities where tobacco is grown. The Board 

also believe that good governance is a necessity for 

sustainable value creation.

Highlights for 2019/2020 Production 
and Marketing Season

The season was 113 days long and 26 days less than the 

number of selling days in the previous year. A total of 

184 million kg of tobacco were sold in 2020 compared 

to 259 million kg in 2019. Gross value of tobacco stood 

at US$460 million against US$527 million in 2019.  The 

seasonal average price rose to US$2.50 per kilogram 

from US$2.03 per kilogram achieved in 2019.

Gratitude
I would like to thank fellow Board members, 

management and staff for their commitment and hard 

work to deliver good performance under challenging 

operating conditions. We remain indebted to our 

clients and stakeholders for their unwavering support 

and loyalty. My gratitude goes to the Ministry of Lands, 

Agriculture, Fisheries, Water and Rural Development 

for their unwavering support.

PATRICK DEVENISH

BOARD CHAIRMAN
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Management Report

AN OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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An overview of the year

The 2020 marketing season progressed well despite 

experiencing a 29% drop in volume, as compared to the 

2019  marketing season. The decrease in production 

was attributed to unfavourable climatic conditions 

as well as farmer viability challenges. The crop was 

generally grown under grim weather conditions 

characterized by late rains and prolonged dry spells 

with the rainfall remaining way below average levels 

in many districts while the irrigated crops had major 

problems due to erratic power supplies.

The 2020 tobacco-marketing season started more 

than a month later compared to the 2019 season 

because of the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic 

and the sales were done in an unusual manner with 

very few growers allowed to witness the sales as there 

was full adherence to COVID-19 protocols.

Financial Performance

The year’s results are presented in Zimbabwean 

Currency – ZWL ($) which was promulgated as 

the functional currency in the country in February 

2019. The board reports inflation adjusted financial 

statements in line with IAS 29. The historic cost (HC) 

amounts are shown as supplementary information.

The Board’s revenue in inflation adjusted terms 

declined by 0.4% from $820.6 million (m) ($90.2m 

– HC) in 2019 to $817.3m ($573 m - HC) in 2020. 

Revenue continued to be driven by export fees which 

contributed 72% of the total revenue, as demand for 

the Zimbabwe flavored tobacco remained firm despite 

the effects of the COVID 19 pandemic.

Operating expenses in inflation adjusted terms 

reduced by 31% from ZWL718.8m in 2019 to $494.6m 

in 2020. In historical terms, operating expenses 

increased by 742% to ZWL351.8 million in 2020, as 

compared to prior year ZWL47.4 million, driven by a 

general increase in costs based on devaluation of the 

local currency. Loss from special projects movement 

from $20.4m ($14.3m – HC) in 2019 to $14.9m ($71.5m 

– HC) in 2020, emanates from the allowance for credit 

losses against loans issued to farmers under the 

tobacco inputs support scheme, whose recovery rate 

was 64%. 

As a result of all the above, surplus for the year 

increased by $109.4m (48%); ($183.3m – HC) versus 

a surplus of $229m ($60m – HC) recorded in the prior 

year. Due to hyperinflationary accounting, there was a 

$61.5m (20%) reduction on net monetary movements 

mainly driven by the restatement of opening retained 

surplus. 

The increase in property, plant and equipment to 

$446.9m ($373m – HC) from $398.6m ($77.3m – 

HC), was due to a revaluation of the building at 429 

Gleneagles Road, Southerton as set out in notes 3 of 

the financial statements.

Grower Performance

A total of 166,959 tobacco growers registered for the 

2019/20 season. New growers accounted for 6% of 

the total registered growers.  In comparison, 185,920 

growers registered in the 2018/19 season. 

The tobacco growers were mostly concentrated 

in Mashonaland Central and Mashonaland West 

provinces which had 36% and 33% of total registered 

growers, respectively. Communal and A1 growers 

constituted 89% of the total registered growers whilst 

the commercial growers constituted the remaining 

11%.
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Active growers (growers that sold some tobacco at 

least once) who delivered tobacco at various selling 

points were 122,367 which represents 73% of the total 

registered growers. In the 2018/19 season, 154,926 out 

of 185,920 registered growers were active. Reasons 

for inactivity were mainly attributed to complete 

crop failure due to natural disasters like hailstorms, 

prolonged dry periods in some parts of the production 

area.

 

Auction Sales
The Board licensed three auction floors during the 

2019/20 season, i.e. Tobacco Sales Floor (TSF), Boka 

Tobacco Floors (BTF), and Premier Tobacco Auction 

Floor (PTAF). The same floors were licensed in 2018/19 

marketing season.  Thirty-two (32) “A” class buyers 

were licensed to buy tobacco on the auction floors. 

A total of 9 million kilograms of FCV tobacco was 

sold through the three auction floors. Auction sales 

for 2020 dropped by 71% compared to 2019. Auction 

tobacco sales accounted for 5% of 2020 total tobacco 

sales. Auction tobacco volumes hit their lowest ever 

in the 2019/20 season since the advent of contract 

marketing system in Zimbabwe in 2004. The bale 

rejection rate was lower than last season owing to the 

firmness of the auction prices. Average auction price 

for 2020 rose to US$2.84/kg, from US$1.76/kg which 

was attained in 2019. A total of 6 765 growers sold their 

crop at auction floors. Although less tobacco volume 

went through auction floors during the 2019/20 season 

compared to the previous year, the prices were firmer. 

The highest price remained at $4.99 per kilogram like 

prior year. TSF accounted for 72% of total auction sales 

whilst the remaining 28% was shared between BTF 

and PTF. 

Contract purchases 
Thirty-one merchants were licensed as tobacco 

contractors in 2020. Collectively, they purchased a 

total of 175 million kilograms, which contributed 95% 

to the total national production. The 2019/20 season 

average price at contract floors was US$2.48/kg 

compared to US$2.07/kg in 2019. The highest price 

achieved at contract sales recorded was US$6.60/kg 

compared to $5.75/kg in previous season. Tobacco 

volumes sold through the contract floors have been 

generally increasing since the start of contract system 

in 2004. 

Province Communal Al Small scale 
comm A2 2019/20 2018/19 % Change

Mash Central 34,398 20,806 2,811 2,766 60,781 69,850 -13

Mash West 36,131 14,187 2,288 3,062 55,668 64,084 -13

Manicaland 12,010 11,539 1,774 1,303 26,626 26,992 -1

Mash East 7,834 10,833 1,833 2,899 23,399 24,199 -3

Midlands 253 49 19 11 332 579 -43

Masvingo 74 44 17 15 150 213 -30

Matabeleland - - - 1 1 3 -67

TOTAL 90,700 57,458 8,742 10,057 166,957 185,920 -10

Table below showing a comparison of total registered growers between the 2018/19 and 2019/20 seasons
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In the year 2020, the country 
exported 187.9 million kilograms 
of tobacco, a volume almost like 
exports in 2019 at 187.8 million 
kilograms. .
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The year ended with stocks amounting to 
approximately 121 million kilogrammes 

compared to 150 million kilogrammes in 
the prior year.

“ “
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Table showing production and sales progress for flue cured tobacco since 1975

Average price Gross value

Year Growers Area(ha) Mass sold 
(kg) ZW$/kg US$/kg

Average 
yield (kg/

ha) 
US$ ZW$

2020 122,367 117,537 184,042,292 2.50 1,566 459,667,154

2019 154,926 146,000 259,492,611 2.03 1,777 526,732,734

2018 140,895 133,000 252,603,251 2.92 1,899 737,431,247

2017 98,927 110,816 188,920,313 2.96 1,705 559,204,126

2016 81 801 102,537 202,275,688 2.95 1,972 595,927,523

2015 97 616 104,662 198,954,849 2.95 1,900 586,544,231

2014 106 372 102,537 216,196,683 3.17 2,108 685,244,013

2013 78 756 88 627 166,572,097 3.67 1,879 612,135,672

2012 60 047 76 359 144 565 253 3.65 1 893 527 805 943

2011 56,656 78 415 132,431,905 2.73 1 689 361,448,679

2010 51 685 67 054 123 503 681 2.88 1 842 355 572 326

2009 29 018 62 737 58 570 652 2.98 934 174 457 761

2008 35 094 61 622 48 775 178 3.21 792 156 663 816

2007 26 412 54 551 73 039 015 2.32 1 339 169 159 675

2006 20 565 58 808 55 466 689 0.35 2.00 943 19 527108 198

2005 31 761 57 511 73 376 990 22.71 1.61 1 300 1 666 410 523

2004 21 882 44 025 68 901 129 861.43 2 1 565 593 537 303

2003 20 513 49 571 81 806 414 180.31 2.25 1 673 147 508 194

2002 14 353 74 295 165 835 001 35.93 2.27 2 213 59 576 224

2001 7 937 76 017 202 535 209 17.46 1.75 2 664 35 371 686

2000 8 537 84 857 236 946 295 8.13 1.69 2 792 19 266 709

1999 7 194 84 762 192 145 383 6.62 1.74 2 267 12 726 314

1998 8 334 91 905 215 913 864 3.47 1.72 2 349 75 501 393

1997 5 101 90 630 171 542 696 2.9 2.33 1 893 4 976 043

1996 2 921 81 231 201 550 527 2.9 2.94 2 481 5 848 818

1995 2 525 74 550 198 751 924 1.8 2.12 2 666 3 584 710

1994 2 338 67 416 169 218 196 1.38 1.73 2 510 2 335 875

1993 2 999 82 900 218 370 345 0.8 1.24 2 634 1 752 685

1992 2 604 80 070 201 161 921 0.81 1.62 2 512 1 630 161

1991 1 746 66 927 170 149 851 1.16 2 542 1 969 134

1990 1 493 59 425 133 866 041 0.65 2 253 868 180

1989 1 448 57 660 129 960 308 0.43 2 254 558 459

1988 1 486 59 178 119 912 584 0.39 2 026 471 837

1987 1 519 63 536 127 996 176 0.22 2 015 278 938

1986 1 426 57 349 114 304 117 0.31 1 993 358 206

1985 1 296 52 464 105 555 569 0.27 2 012 283 394

1984 1 186 50 486 119 636 157 0.21 2 370 247 119

1983 1 155 46 622 94 295 739 0.12 2 023 177 798

1982 1 257 46 427 89 387 652 0.17 1 925 149 563

1981 1 145 38 099 67 356 019 0.18 1 768 123 774

1980 1 547 64 310 122 571 366 0.08 1 906 97 437

1979 1 556 59 631 111 686 415 0.08 1 873 92 023

1978 1 612 54 939 82 968 508 0.1 1 510 81 994

1977 1 638 56 993 83 373 667 0.07 1 463 61 085

1976 1 696 66 290 110 533 041 0.07 1 667 76 046

1975 1 731 65 834 83 919 914 0.07 1 275 57 736
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Tobacco Exports Performance

In the year 2020, the country exported 187.9 million 

kilograms of tobacco, a volume almost like exports 

in 2019 at 187.8 million kilograms. The export pattern 

assumed the same pattern for the past three years 

from 2018. However, peak exports were realized in 

November for both 2019 and 2020 in contrast to the 

October peak observed in 2018.

The export earnings declined for the three successive 

years from US$907.7 million recorded in 2018 to 

US$763 million recorded in 2020. The 2020 average 

export price for tobacco was US$4.06/kg compared 

to US$4.51/kg for 2019. 

The Far East had been the topmost destination for 

Zimbabwean tobacco since 2011, absorbing a high of 

52% of total exports in 2016 and 44% in 2020. China 

and Indonesia are the main markets for Zimbabwean 

tobacco in the Far East. The European Union and Africa 

are also significant destinations for Zimbabwean 

tobacco absorbing a combined 33% of total exports 

in 2020.

Tobacco Imports Performance

A total of 4.8 million kilograms were imported from ten 

countries compared to 4.5 million kilograms imported 

in 2019. The imported tobacco was used for blending 

with local stock for either cigarette manufacturing or 

processing and export. Malawi accounted for 55% of 

the total tobacco imports. Imports from the Dominican 

Republic and Indonesia are mainly used for the 

manufacture of cigars. Some 96% of the imports were 

FCV tobacco and 4% Burley and Dark fire tobaccos. 

The value of tobacco imported was worth US$19 

million, at an average import price of US$3.59/kg

Tobacco Stocks at Hand

The year ended with stocks amounting to 

approximately 121 million kilogrammes compared to 

150 million kilogrammes in the prior year.

Appreciation
Over the years, the industry has seen phenomenal 

growth attributed to the support rendered by growers, 

merchants/contractors, auction floors, input suppliers 

and other stakeholders. Coupled with this, is the 

Board’s employees who have been instrumental in 

driving the industry forward. Management renders 

utmost gratitude to them. Important to mention, is 

Ministry of Lands, Agriculture, Fisheries, Water and 

Rural Development for policy guidance.

I would also like to thank the Board of Directors that 

have been immensely supportive in ensuring that 

the Board is on course to meet its core objectives 

of ensuring compliance to regulations, improved 

viability of growers and increased sustainable tobacco 

production.

Meanwell Gudu
Chief Executive Officer
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Directors’ Responsibilities
   

The directors are required in terms of the Tobacco In-

dustry and Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20) to maintain 

adequate accounting records and are responsible for 

the content and integrity of the financial statements 

and related financial information included in this re-

port. It is their responsibility to ensure that the finan-

cial statements fairly present the situation of the To-

bacco Industry and Marketing Board as at the end of 

the financial year and the results of its operations and 

cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity 

with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 

external auditor is engaged to express an independent 

opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and 

are based upon appropriate accounting policies con-

sistently applied and supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 

responsible for the system of internal financial con-

trol established by the board and place considerable 

importance on maintaining a strong control environ-

ment. To enable the directors to meet these responsi-

bilities, the board of directors sets standards for inter-

nal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss 

in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the 

proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 

defined framework, effective accounting procedures 

and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an ac-

ceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 

throughout the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board 

and all employees are required to maintain the highest 

ethical standards in ensuring the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board’s business is conducted in a manner 

that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 

The focus of risk management in the Tobacco Industry 

and Marketing Board is on identifying, assessing, man-

aging, and monitoring all known forms of risk across 

the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board. While 

operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Tobac-

co Industry and Marketing Board endeavors to min-

imize it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 

controls, systems and ethical behavior are applied and 

managed within predetermined procedures and con-

straints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the infor-

mation and explanations given by management that 

the system of internal control provides reasonable as-

surance that the financial records may be relied on for 

the preparation of the financial statements. However, 

any system of internal financial control can provide 

only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 

material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board ’s cash flow forecast for the year to 

31 December 2020 and, in light of this review and the 

current financial position, they are satisfied that the 

Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board has or had ac-

cess to adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditor is responsible for independently 

auditing and reporting on the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board’s financial statements. The financial 

statements have been examined by the Tobacco In-

dustry and Marketing Board ‘s external auditor and 

their report is presented on pages 21 to 24.

The financial statements set out on pages 25 to 65, 

which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 

were prepared under the supervision of the Finance 

Executive, Fatima Munatswa, a member of the Insti-

tute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in 

Zimbabwe (GRAD.ICSA 1083110) and were approved 

by the board of directors on 16 September 2021 and 

were signed on their behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

___________________________  ___________________________

BOARD CHAIRMAN                                                 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REPORT 
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As a commercial regulatory entity, TIMB has continued 

to conduct its business operations in a viable manner 

and in doing so, has committed to upholding high 

standards of business practices as prescribed under 

applicable statutes and regulatory guidelines. The 

Board has aligned its corporate governance practices 

as prescribed under Tobacco Industry and Marketing 

Act (Chapter 18:20), PECG Act (Chapter 10:31), Public 

Finance Management Act (Chapter 22:19) and as 

per regulatory directives issued by the Corporate 

Governance Unit of the Office of the President and 

Cabinet.

As part of alignment, the Board reviews its corporate 

governance framework and strategies annually. The 

Board and Chief Executive Officer’s performance 

contracts were duly submitted to the line Ministry, 

Office of the President and Cabinet and Corporate 

Governance Unit within the timelines stipulated in the 

PECG Act. Board members and senior staff members 

declared their assets in compliance with PECG Act. 

The 2019 Annual Report was produced and distributed 

to shareholders and stakeholders. TIMB successfully 

convened its 1st Annual General meeting for 2019 

virtually on 28th June 2021. The Board held five (5) 

meetings during the year.

Governance Structures

The Board conducts its business through the 

governance structures that are reviewed annually as 

detailed below:

The Board

It is with a very heavy heart that I announce the death 

of Mr. Philbert Mambiri on 31st December 2020. He 

was a hardworking Board member and an active 

member of the Human Resources and Remuneration 

Committee.

The Board comprised of seven (7) independent non-

executive directors and one (1) executive director. The 

enabling Act provides for not more than eleven (11) 

board members. To further strengthen the Board, there 

is need for more members with finance/accounting 

and legal skills in addition to a suitable representative 

of the industry.

The detailed responsibilities of the TIMB’s Board 

include the following. 

• The drafting and adoption of the Board ‘s 

strategic plan.

• The appointment of the CEO and senior 

Management.

• The disciplinary issues for the CEO and senior 

Management.

• The approval of the annual operating budget, and 

monitoring performance against budget.

• The approval of interim and final financial 

statements.

• The approval of any significant change in 

accounting policies and practices.

• Approval of Risk Management framework 

controls of the Board to ensure the appropriate 

compliance procedures are in place.

• Significant acquisitions and other material 

transactions.

• New issues of long-term debt.

• Remuneration of the CEO, Management, and staff.

Board Committees and meetings

The Board as a whole is responsible for the oversight 

of management on behalf of the shareholder, the 

Government of Zimbabwe. The Board meets quarterly 

through scheduled meetings and can conduct adhoc 

meetings as and when the need arises.  The Board 

set up three (3) committees to assist in its oversight 

function in accordance with section 11 of the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20) and the 

PECG Act as read with PECG General Regulations, S. 

I. 168 of 2018. The Board also held regular consultative 

meetings with line Minister and these meetings 

provide an important feedback platform where critical 

issues are tabled, and guidance provided.

Details of the Board Committees as at 31st December 

2020 as follows:
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1. Finance and Audit Committee

The Finance and Audit Committee’s role is as follows:

i. Advise the Board on all financial matters.

ii. Receive and recommend unaudited financial 

statements of the Board prior to consideration 

by the External Auditors.

iii. Consider and recommend the Board’s budgets 

before submission to the main Board.

iv. Determine whether revised budgets are 

necessary and to recommend accordingly to 

the Board.

v. Monitor the financial status of the specific 

activities or projects as the need to monitor 

arises as determined from time to time by the 

Board.

vi. Advise the Board on specific financial matters.

vii. Review on behalf of the Board all major contracts 

agreements, deeds or other instruments 

involving the financial affairs of the Board, and 

which are to be presented to the Board and to 

make recommendations to the Board regarding 

appropriate action.

viii. Consider and review treasury and investment 

activities of the Board.

ix. Review and evaluate at least on a quarterly 

basis financial plans and results in comparison 

to stated strategies, objectives, and plans.

x. Address questions of financial policy and 

recommend changes in the financial policy 

from time to time.

xi. Ensure that timely, accurate and useful financial 

information is presented to the Board.

xii. Risk identification and assessment.

xiii. To formulate risk management policy and 

strategy.

xiv. Monitor risk management implementation plan

xv. Assume such other responsibilities as from time 

to time may be delegated by the Board.

Composition

Mrs. Nomusa Dube (Non-Executive Committee 

Chairman)

Mr. Robert Webb (Non-Executive Member)

Mr. Bernard Mache (Non-Executive Member)

2. Production and Marketing Committee

The Production and marketing Committee’s role is as 

follows:

i. Give recommendations for policy formulation 

and oversight with regards to core functions 

as derived from the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Act [Chapter 18:20].

ii. To ensure that tobacco is produced and 

marketed in an orderly manner.

iii. Strategic thinking on matters affecting the 

core functions of TIMB.

iv. Monitoring strategy implementation and 

regulatory performance.

v. Setting performance objectives for the Board’s 

core functions.

vi. Provide framework for policy on the 

development of adequate regulations.

vii. Ensuring compliance of regulatory functions 

with the law and relevant international 

standards.

Composition

Mrs. Marjorie Munyonga (Non-Executive Committee 

Chairman)

Mr. Robert Webb (Non-Executive Member)

Lt. Gen. (Rtd) Dr Engelbert A. Rugeje (Non-Executive 

Member)

3. Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee’s 

role is as follows:

i. Determining the remuneration policy.

ii. To review annually the staffing establishment 

of TIMB and consider any proposals for 

significant changes.

iii. To review staff remuneration packages and 

benefits as necessary.

iv. To review staff training, learning and 

development arrangements including 

performance management systems.

v. To review Human Resource policies and 
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procedures manual as the need arises 

considering developments in good practice, 

employment legislation, and business and 

Board mandate.

vi. To set, monitor and evaluate an ongoing 

programme of training and development for 

Board members.

vii. To give guidance and approval to engage 

external counsel to assist in labour related 

matters.

viii. To recommend Board fees and allowances.

ix. Assume such other responsibilities as from 

time to time as may be delegated by the 

Board.

Composition

Mr. Patrick Devenish (Non-Executive Committee 

Chairman)

Mr. Philbert Mambiri (Non-Executive Member)

Lt. Gen. (Rtd) Dr Engelbert A. Rugeje (Non-Executive 

Member)

Members’ Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings 

Attendance at both Board and Board Committee meetings in 2020 was as set out in the table below:

Name
Main Board 
5 Meetings

Finance 
and Audit 
Committee
4 Meetings

Production
And Marketing 
Committee
3 Meetings

Human Resources
and Remuneration 
Committee
4 Meetings

P. Devenish 5 NM NM 4

N. Dube 3 4 NM NM

M. Munyonga 5 NM 3 NM

E.A. Rugeje 5 NM 3 4

R. Webb 5 3 3 NM

P. Mambiri 5 NM NM 4

B. Mache 5 3 NM NM

A.E. Matibiri 5 ED ED ED

Key

NM- Not a member of the Board Committee

ED-Executive Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the directors of Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Qualified opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board set out on pages 25 to 65, which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 

notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

In our opinion, except for the effect, if any of the matters described in the basis for qualified opinion section of our 

report, the financial statements present fairly the statement of financial position of Tobacco Industry and Marketing 

Board as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Act 

(Chapter 18:20).

Basis for qualified opinion

IAS 21,’The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’

In the current year the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board has transactions and balances that are United States 

Dollar (USD) based. IAS 21,’The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, requires the use of a spot exchange 

rate for immediate delivery of currency. The interbank auction exchange rate used in the current year does not meet 

the definition of the spot exchange rate given in IAS 21. The financial statements may be misstated to the extent of 

the net impact on the financial statement of the difference between the interbank auction exchange rate and the 

spot exchange rate that would meet the requirements of IAS 21. No assessment of the spot exchange rate and the 

impact of the difference if any has been made, consequently we were not able to establish if the financial statements 

for the current year would be materially different if such an assessment had been caried out. 

The Board’s prior year financial statements were qualified due to non-compliance with IAS 21. The financial 

statements used an exchange rate that complied with the legislative requirements in place in the country. As the 

Board chose to comply with the law, it inevitably could not comply with the requirements of IAS 21 which require 

foreign currency transactions and balances to be translated at a spot exchange rate which is a rate for immediate 

delivery of currency. Therefore, the opening balances and the current year financial statements may be affected 

by any difference between the interbank auction exchange rate and a spot exchange rate that would meet the 

requirements of IAS 21. 

Tel +263 4 291 8460/3 | Fax +263 4 291 8464

Eighth Floor, Takura House | 67 Kwame Nkrumah Avenue | Harare, PO Box CY 629 I Causeway I Harare I Zimbabwe

PKF Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) A member of PKF International Ltd

PKF Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) is a member of PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not accept any 

responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Investment property carrying amount

The investment property has not started to generate an economic return since its completion for a number of reasons 

given by management – ranging from compliance requirements to ongoing search for tenants. The carrying value of 

the investment property on the basis of generating rental income may not be justified. Professional valuations were 

undertaken but had a limitation of scope related to the lack of recent market evidence due to depressed market 

activity attributed to COVID-19. While the board has carried the investment property below the valuations given by 

independent valuers, we were not able to determine if any further adjustment may be required to the carrying value 

of the investment property.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board in accordance with the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable 

to performing audits of financial statements in Zimbabwe. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the IESBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits 

in Zimbabwe. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our qualified opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial statements as a whole and in forming my opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters.

Key audit matter Implication
How we addressed the Key audit 

matter

The Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board runs special 

projects fund which is funded 

by loans received from Reserve 

Bank of Zimbabwe and 

merchants.

The funds received are used to 

fund projects for farmers under the 

tobacco inputs credit scheme and 

may create a risk to the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Board should 

the conditions not be met.

We have reviewed the loan 

agreements of the loans extended 

to Tobacco Industry and Marketing 

Board for special projects to support 

the balance in special projects. 

Further, we review the disbursements 

made to farmers. 

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information that may be presented along with these accounts. The 

other information comprises of the statement of Directors Responsibilities and Approval as required by the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20) of Zimbabwe, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other 

information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

 

Independent Auditor’s Report

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Act 

(Chapter 18:20), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Tobacco Industry and Marketing 

Board’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also-:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
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cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the Tobacco Industry & 

Marketing Board or business activities of the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board to express an opinion on the 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Tobacco Industry 

and Marketing Board’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

 

Independent Auditor’s Report

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 

most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 

our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lewis Hussein.

PKF Chartered Accountants

Registered Public Auditor (Zimbabwe)

Per: Lewis Hussein

Engagement Partner

Registered Public Auditor (Zimbabwe)

PAAB Practising Number of Engagement Partner: 0347

Harare

Tel +263 4 291 8460/3 | Fax +263 4 291 8464

Eighth Floor, Takura House | 67 Kwame Nkrumah Avenue | Harare

PKF Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) A member of PKF International Ltd

PKF Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) is a member of PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does 

not accept any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms
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INFLATION ADJUSTED HISTORICAL

Figures in ZWL($) Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 446,850,735 398,599,337 373,091,829 77,290,784

Right of use asset 3 4,720,415 1,983,835 1,598,266 78,758

Investment property 4 94,876,931 71,840,000 94,876,931 16,000,000

Loans to special projects 5 36,917,747 296,720 36,917,747 66,085

Loan’s receivable 6 13,909,596 11,889,319 13,909,596 2,647,955

Trade and other receivables 7 7,931 223,880 7,931 49,862

Listed securities 8 15,587,594 262,952 15,587,594 58,564

612,870,949 485,096,044 535,989,894 96,192,008

Current Assets

Loan’s receivable 6 1,569,579 1,557,867 1,569,579 365,462

Trade and other receivables 7 124,261,422 28,848,618 124,269,353 6,425,082

Cash and cash equivalents 8 191,761,412 228,748,986 191,761,412 50,946,322

Bonds 8 40,980,817 6,804,968 40,980,817 1,515,583

358,573,230 265,960,438 358,581,161 59,252,449

Total Assets 971,444,179 751,056,483 894,571,055 155,444,457

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Reserves 55,326,698 84,214,714 289,562,344 55,083,095

Retained income 626,539,936 538,343,228 315,431,166 71,742,533

681,866,635 622,557,942 604,993,511 126,825,628

Liabilities

Non-Current liabilities

Lease liability 11 555,795 240,906 555,795 53,654

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 150,175,153 41,134,303 150,175,153 9,161,315

Bank overdraft 8 - 489 - 109

Net Liability from special projects 9 87,697,556 72,843,833 87,697,556 16,223,571

Provisions 10 49,966,650 14,141,027 49,966,650 3,149,449

Lease liability 11 1,182,390 137,982 1,182,390 30,731

289,021,749 128,257,634 289,021,749 28,565,174

Total Liabilities 289,577,544 128,498,540 289,577,544 28,618,828

Total Equity and Liabilities 971,444,179 751,056,483 894,571,055 155,444,457

The financial statements and the notes on pages 25 to 65, were approved by the board on the 16 September 2021, 

and were signed on its behalf by:

___________________________________   _________________________________

BOARD CHAIRMAN       CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Statement of 

Financial Position 
as at December 2020
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INFLATION ADJUSTED HISTORICAL

Figures in ZWL ($) Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue 13 817,289,847 820,679,734 573,442,293 90,246,401

Other operating income 14 25,633,690 144,615,077 80,725,102 31,225,582

Other operating gains / (losses) 142,084 231,328 44,969 20,115

Other operating expenses 15 (494,618,773) (718,844,750) (351,797,185) (47,402,542)

Operating profit / (loss) 348,446,848 246,681,389 302,415,179 74,089,556

Investment income 10,737,045 3,373,756 7,376,244 525,542

Finance costs 16 (27,323) (98,623) (9,438) (17,019)

Loss from special projects 9 (14,853,724) (20,448,099) (71,473,986) (14,344,436)

Fair value gains on listed securities (5,276,605) 130,758 5,380,633 20,907

Surplus / (deficit) for the year 339,026,242 229,639,182 243,688,633 60,274,550

Net Monetary Loss (250,829,534) (312,289,185) - -

Profit for the year 88,196,708 (82,650,003 243,688,633 60,274,550

Other comprehensive income (28,888,016) 157,982,130 234,479,249 54,662,839

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for 

the year 
59,308,692 75,332,127 478,167,882 114,937,389

 

Statement of 

Profit or Loss and  Other Comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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INFLATION ADJUSTED

Figures in ZWL ($)
Revaluation 

reserve
Other NDR

Total 
reserves

Retained 
income

Total equity

Restated Balance at 01 January 2019 - - - 620,993,231 620,993,231

Profit for the year - - - (82,650,003) (82,650,003)

Other comprehensive income 84,214,714 - 84,214,714 - 84,214,714

Balance at 31 December 2019 84,214,714 - 84,214,714 538,343,228 622,557,942

Profit for the year - - - 88,196,708 88,196,708

Other comprehensive income (28,888,016) - (28,888,016) - (28,888,016)

Balance at 31 December 2020 55,326,698 - 55,326,698 626,539,936 681,866,635

HISTORICAL

Figures in ZWL ($)
Revaluation 

reserve
Other NDR

Total 
reserves

Retained 
income

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2019 412,966 7,290 420,256 11,467,983 11,888,238

Profit for the year - - - 60,274,550 60,274,550

Other comprehensive income 54,662,839 - 54,662,839 - 54,662,839

Total comprehensive income for the year 54,662,839 - 54,662,839 60,274,550 114,937,389

Balance at 31 December 2019 55,075,805 7,290 55,083,095 71,742,533 126,825,627

Profit for the year - - - 243,688,633 243,688,633

Other comprehensive income 234,479,249 - 234,479,249 - 234,479,249

Balance at 31 December 2020 289,555,054 7,290 289,562,344 315,431,166 604,993,511

Statement of 

Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Statement of Cash Flows

INFLATION ADJUSTED HISTORICAL

Figures in ZWL ($) Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Surplus / (deficit) for the year 339,026,242 229,639,182 243,688,633 60,274,550

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 56,428,465 45,012,677 4,982,097 1,281,327

Gains on Disposals (142,084) (231,329) (44,969) (20,115)

Interest received (10,737,045) (3,373,755) (7,376,244) (525,542)

Finance costs 27,323 98,623 9,438 17,019

Fair value gains (15,336,168) (18,075,546) (81,833,406) (14,100,000)

Impairment reversals and losses - (73,767,418) - (16,429,269)

Movement in provisions 35,825,623 5,176,844 46,817,201 2,864,952

Net Monetary Loss (250,829,534) (312,289,185) - -

Changes in working capital

Inventories - 317,708 - 11,394

Trade and other receivables (97,228,844) 40,077,996 (130,268,097) (6,525,705)

Trade and other payables 109,040,850 (28,660,999) 141,013,838 6,620,810

Cash generated from operations 166,074,829 (116,075,202) 216,988,491 33,469,421

Interest income 10,737,045 3,373,755 7,376,244 525,542

Finance costs (27,324) (98,623) (9,438) (17,019)

Net cash from operating activities 176,784,550 (112,800,070) 224,355,297 33,977,944

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (136,728,769) (10,421,146) (68,201,919) (1,114,335)

Purchase of  Investment Property 4 (2,424,159) - (2,424,159) -

Sale of property, plant and equipment 566,396 518,538 423,488 25,936

Loans advanced to special projects (36,621,027) 32,790,915 (36,851,662) 1,120,579

Purchase of financial assets - Equity (20,620,525) - (10,157,894) -

Purchase of Bonds (37,690,868) (6,804,969) (41,196,771) (1,515,583)

Sale of investments at fair value 19,279 - 9,495 -

Sale of financial assets - Bonds 3,515,021 - 1,731,537 (20,910)

Net cash from investing activities (229,984,654) 16,083,337 (156,667,884) (1,504,313)

Cash flows from financing activities

Movement in net liability of special projects 14,853,724 20,448,071 71,473,986 14,344,435

Increase in Lease liability 1,359,296 378,889 1,653,800 84,385

Net cash from financing activities 16,213,020 20,826,959 73,127,785 14,428,819

Total cash movement for the year (36,987,085) (75,889,773) 140,815,199 46,902,451

Cash at beginning of the year 228,748,497 304,638,271 50,946,213 4,043,762

Total cash at end of the year 8 191,761,142 228,748,497 191,761,412 50,946,213

Statement of 

Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Corporate information
Tobacco industry and Marketing Board is a statutory company incorporated and domiciled in Zimbabwe.

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in compliance 

with, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these financial statements 

and the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the 

accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are 

presented in ZWL dollars, which is the company’s functional currency. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

Accordingly, the financial statements have been restated to take account of the changes in general purchasing 

power of the Zimbabwean dollar and as a result are stated in terms of the measuring unit current at 31 December 

2020.

The restatement is based on conversion factors derived from the Zimbabwe Consumer Price Index (CPI) 

compiled by the Central Statistical Office of Zimbabwe, shown I the table below. Amounts shown under the 

heading “Historical Cost” in the financial statements are provided for supplementary purposes.

Month Index Conversion factor

December 2019 552 4.49

January 2020 564 4.39

February 2020 640 3.87

March 2020 810 3.05

April 2020 953 2.60

May 2020 1,098 2.25

June 2020 1,445 1.71

July 2020 1,959 1.26

August 2020 2,124 1.17

September 2020 2,205 1.12

October 2020 2,302 1.08

November 2020 2,374 1.04

December 2020 2,475 1.00

ACCOUNTING POLICIES



TOBACCO INDUSTRY AND MARKETING BOARD
Annual Report 2020

30

1.2. Significant judgements and sources of estimation 

uncertainty

 The preparation of financial statements in 

conformity with IFRS requires management, from 

time to time, to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies 

and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. These estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on experience and various 

other factors that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 

assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 

the period in which the estimates are revised and in 

any future periods affected.

1.3 Investment property

 Investment property is recognized as an asset 

when, and only when, it is probable that the future 

economic benefits that are associated with the 

investment property will flow to the enterprise, 

and the cost of the investment property can be 

measured reliably.

 Investment property is initially recognized at cost 

including directly attributable expenditure and 

transaction costs. Subsequently the fair value model 

is used, whereby, any change in fair value is reported 

in profit or loss.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets 

which the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board 

holds for its own use or for rental to others and 

which are expected to be used for more than one 

year.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is 

recognized as an asset when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Tobacco Industry and Marketing 

Board, and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably.

 Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 

at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure 

which is directly attributable to the acquisition or 

construction of the asset, including the capitalization 

of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and 

adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where 

appropriate.

 Expenditure incurred subsequently for major 

services, additions to or replacements of parts of 

property, plant and equipment are capitalized if it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated 

with the expenditure will flow to the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Board and the cost can be 

measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are 

included in profit or loss in the year in which they 

are incurred.

 Property, plant and equipment is subsequently 

stated at fair value less accumulated depreciation 

and any accumulated impairment losses, except for 

land which is stated at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses.

 Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset 

is available for use as intended by management. 

Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s 

carrying amount over its estimated useful life 

to its estimated residual value, using a method 

that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s 

economic benefits are consumed by the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Board. Leased assets 

are depreciated in a consistent manner over the 

shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease 

term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its 

estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its 

ACCOUNTING POLICIESACCOUNTING POLICIES
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carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for 

sale or derecognized.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation Average 

 Method Useful life

Buildings Straight line 50 Years

Computer equipment and software Straight line 3 Years 

Furniture and Fixtures Straight line 5 Years 

Motor Vehicles Straight line 5 Years 

Office Equipment Straight line 5 Years 

Other Fixed Assets Straight line 5 Years

Land is not depreciated 

  

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period.   If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change 

in accounting estimate.

 The depreciation charge for each period is recognized in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount 

of another asset.

 Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be 

impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than 

the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss to bring the 

carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the de-recognition of an item of 

property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 

carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognized.

1.5 Financial instruments

 Financial instruments held by the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board are classified in accordance with the 

provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

 Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board as 

applicable, are as follows:

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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 Financial assets which are equity instruments:

 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or

 Designated as at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. (This designation is not 

available to equity instruments which are held for 

trading or which are contingent consideration in a 

business combination).

 Financial assets which are debt instruments:

* Amortized cost. (This category applies only when 

the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, 

on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on principal, and 

where the instrument is held under a business model 

whose objective is met by holding the instrument to 

collect contractual cash flows); or

* Fair value through other comprehensive income. 

(This category applies only when the contractual 

terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, 

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on principal, and where the instrument 

is held under a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 

and selling the instruments); or 

* Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 

(This classification automatically applies to all debt 

instruments which do not qualify as at amortized 

cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 

income); or

* Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This 

classification option can only be applied when it 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch).

 Derivatives which are not part of a hedging 

relationship:

 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities:

* Amortized cost; or

* Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This 

applies to contingent consideration in a business 

combination or to liabilities which are held for 

trading); or

* Designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

(This classification option can be applied when it 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch; the liability forms part of a group of 

financial instruments managed on a fair value 

basis; or it forms part of a contract containing 

an embedded derivative and the entire contract 

is designated as at fair value through profit or 

loss)19 Financial instruments and risk management 

presents the financial instruments held by the 

Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board  based on 

their specific classifications.

 All regular purchases or sales of financial assets 

are recognized and derecognized on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 

or sales of financial assets that require delivery 

of assets within the time frame established by 

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

 The specific accounting policies for the classification, 

recognition and measurement of each type of 

financial instrument held by the Tobacco Industry 

and Marketing Board are presented below:

 Trade and other receivables

 Classification

 Trade and other receivables, excluding, when 

applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified 
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as financial assets subsequently measured at 

amortized cost (note 7).

 They have been classified in this manner because 

their contractual terms give rise, on specified 

dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal outstanding, 

and the company’s business model is to collect 

the contractual cash flows on trade and other 

receivables.

 Recognition and measurement

 Trade and other receivables are recognized when 

the company becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the receivables. They are measured, 

at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction 

costs, if any.

 They are subsequently measured at amortized 

cost.

 The amortized cost is the amount recognized on 

the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, 

plus cumulative amortization (interest) using the 

effective interest method of any difference between 

the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted 

for any loss allowance.

 Impairment

 The company recognizes a loss allowance 

for expected credit losses on trade and other 

receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments. The 

amount of expected credit losses is updated at each 

reporting date.

 The company measures the loss allowance for 

trade and other receivables at an amount equal to 

lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which 

represents the expected credit losses that will result 

from all possible default events over the expected 

life of the receivable.

 Trade and other payables

 Classification

 Trade and other payables (note 12), excluding VAT 

and amounts received in advance, are classified 

as financial liabilities subsequently measured at 

amortized cost.

 Recognition and measurement

 They are recognized when the company becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions, and are 

measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus 

transaction costs, if any.

 They are subsequently measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of 

calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability 

and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 

(including all fees and points paid or received that 

form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 

through the expected life of the financial liability, 

or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 

amortized cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant 

financing component, and the effective interest 

method results in the recognition of interest 

expense, then it is included in profit or loss in 

finance costs (note 17).

Trade and other payables expose the company 

to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk.  

Refer to note 20 for details of risk exposure and 

management thereof.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying 

amount which is deemed to be fair value.

 Bank overdrafts

 Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, 

and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, 

using the effective interest rate method.

 

1.6 Leases

 IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for 

the identification of lease arrangements and 

accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. 

The standard supersedes IAS 17 and is effective for 

annual periods that begin on or after 1 January 2019.

 Lessor accounting

 A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease 

if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership.

 Operating leases – lessor

 Operating lease income is recognized as an income 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 

operating leases are added to the carrying amount 

of the leased asset and recognized as an expense 

over the lease term on the same basis as the 

lease income. Income for leases is disclosed under 

revenue in profit or loss.

 Finance lease – Lessor

 Initially a lessor shall recognize the net investment 

in the lease, the lessor shall use the interest rate 

implicit in the lease including initial direct costs to 

measure the net investment in the lease.

 Subsequently a lessor shall recognize finance 

income over the lease term based on a pattern 

reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the 

lessor’s net investment in the lease.

 Lessee accounting

 IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on 

the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled 

by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and 

finance leases are removed for lessee accounting 

and are replaced by a model where right of use asset 

and a corresponding liability have to be recognized 

for all leases by lessees except for short term leases 

and leases of low value assets.

 The right of use asset is initially measured at cost 

(subject to certain exceptions) and subsequently 

measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, 

impairment losses and adjusted for any 

measurement of the lease liability.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present 

value of the lease payments that are not paid at that 

date.

 Subsequently the lease liability is adjusted for 

interest and lease payments, impacts of lease 

modifications, amongst others. Furthermore, the 

classification of cash flows will also be affected as 

under IFRS 16 model the lease payments will be split 

into principal and an interest portion which will be 

presented as financing and operating cash flows 

respectively.

1.7  Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 

net realizable value.
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 Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

costs of completion and the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale. The organization’s 

inventories comprise of stationery and fuel coupons.

1.8 Impairment of assets

 The Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board assesses 

at each end of the reporting period whether there 

is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If 

any such indication exists, the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board estimates the recoverable amount 

of the asset.

 Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 

impairment, the Tobacco Industry and Marketing 

Board also:

* Tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful 

life or intangible assets not yet available for 

use for impairment annually by comparing its 

carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This 

impairment test is performed during the annual 

period and at the same time every period.

*  Tests goodwill acquired in a business combination 

for impairment annually.

 If there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for 

the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate 

the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs is determined.

 The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-

generating unit is the higher of its fair value less 

costs to sell and its value in use.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 

is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction 

is an impairment loss.

 An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less 

any accumulated depreciation or amortization 

is recognized immediately in profit or loss. Any 

impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a 

revaluation decrease.

 An entity assesses at each reporting date whether 

there is any indication that an impairment loss 

recognized in prior periods for assets other than 

goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. 

If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amounts of those assets are estimated.

 The increased carrying amount of an asset other 

than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an 

impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 

prior periods.

 A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 

cost less accumulated depreciation or amortization 

other than goodwill is recognized immediately in 

profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of 

a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9 Employee benefits 

 Short term employee benefits

 The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those 

payable within 12 months after the service is 

rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick 

leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as 

medical care), are recognized in the period in which 

the service is rendered and are not discounted.

 The expected cost of compensated absences is 
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recognized as an expense as the employees render 

services that increase their entitlement or, in the 

case of non-accumulating absences, when the 

absence occurs.

 The expected cost of bonus payments is recognized 

as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 

obligation to make such payments as a result of 

past performance.

 Defined contribution plans

 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 

plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

 Payments made to industry-managed (or state 

plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with 

as defined contribution plans where the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Board ’s obligation under 

the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a 

defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.10 Provisions and contingencies

 Provisions are recognized when:

* The Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board has a 

present obligation as a result of a past event;

* It is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation; and 

* A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

 The amount of a provision is the present value of the 

expenditure expected to be required to settle the 

obligation.

 Where some, or all, of the expenditure required 

to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed 

by another party, the reimbursement shall be 

recognized when, and only when, it is virtually 

certain that reimbursement will be received if the 

entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement 

shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount 

recognized for the reimbursement shall not exceed 

the amount of the provision.

 Provisions are not recognized for future operating 

losses.

 If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present 

obligation under the contract shall be recognized 

and measured as a provision.

 A constructive obligation to restructure arises 

only when an entity:

 Has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, 

identifying at least:

* the business or part of a business concerned,

* the principal locations affected,

* the location, function, and approximate number of 

employees who will be compensated for terminating 

their services,

* the expenditures that will be undertaken; and

* when the plan will be implemented, and

* Has raised a valid expectation in those affected 

that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to 

implement that plan or announcing its main features 

to those affected by it.

 After their initial recognition contingent liabilities 

recognized in business combinations that are 

recognized separately are subsequently measured 

at the higher of:

* The amount that would be recognized as a provision; 

and

* The amount initially recognized less cumulative 

amortization.
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 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 

recognized. Contingencies are disclosed in note 17.

1.11 Revenue

 Revenue comprise the fair value of consideration 

received or receivable for services rendered in 

the ordinary course of the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Board activities. Revenue is recognized 

as follows:

 Licensing income 

 Licensing income for registration of tobacco auction 

floors is charged at $10,000 as stipulated in the 

Tobacco Industry and Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20) 

per floor and is recognized on accrual basis. 

 Contractors Licenses are charged at $5,000 per 

contract as stipulated in the Tobacco Industry and 

Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20) and the license is 

recognized on receipt basis. 

 Buyers License is charged at $2,000 per buyer 

licensed by the board. 

 Graders License is charged at $ 1,250 per grader 

licensed by the board.

 Registration fees

 Every tobacco grower is required by the Tobacco 

Industry and Marketing Act (Chapter 18:20) to 

register with the board for a fee of $10 per grower. 

 All transporters registered with the Board are 

charged a registration fee of $100 for existing 

transporters, and $150 for all new transporters. 

Receipts from transporters is recognized as revenue 

on receipt of cash.

 

 Penalties

 The Tobacco Industry and Marketing Act gives 

the Board the right to charge penalty fees on late 

registration. For any registration done between 

November and December the fee is $10 whilst any 

registration done between January and the day the 

auction floors are opened a fee of $40 is charged 

and where registration is done on selling tobacco a 

farmer is charged a penalty of $90.

 Interest income

 Interest income is recognized on a time proportion 

basis taking into account the principal outstanding 

and effective rate over the period.

 Other income

 Other income is recognized on accrual basis.

 Exports fees

 Exports fees are charged at US3.5 cents per kg of 

tobacco exported, and the fees are recognized on 

accrual basis.

1.12 Translation of foreign currencies 

 Foreign currency transactions

 A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on 

initial recognition in United States Dollars (USD), by 

applying to the foreign currency amount the spot 

exchange rate between the functional currency and 

the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

 At the end of the reporting period:

* Foreign currency monetary items are translated 

using the closing exchange rate;

* Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
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historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction; and

* Non-monetary items that are measured at fair 

value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

determined.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 

monetary items or on translating monetary items 

at rates different from those at which they were 

translated on initial recognition during the period 

or in previous financial statements are recognized in 

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

 When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 

recognized to other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity, any exchange component of 

that gain or loss is recognized to other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or 

loss on a non-monetary item is recognized in profit 

or loss, any exchange component of that gain or 

loss is recognized in profit or loss.

 Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign 

currency are recorded in USD by applying to the 

foreign currency amount the exchange rate between 

the USD and the foreign currency at the date of the 

cash flow.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1  Standards and interpretations, effective and 

adopted in the current year

 In the current year, the Board has adopted the 

following standards and interpretations that are 

effective for the current financial year and that are 

relevant to its operations:

 Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to IFRS 15 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 The amendment provides clarification and further 

guidance regarding certain issues in IFRS 15. These 

items include guidance in assessing whether 

promises to transfer goods or services are separately 

identifiable; guidance regarding agent versus 

principal considerations; and guidance regarding 

licenses and royalties.

 The effective date of the amendment is for years 

beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

 The company has adopted the amendment for the 

first time in the 2018 financial statements.

 The impact of the amendment is not material. 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

 IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced 

new requirements for the classification and 

measurements of financial assets. IFRS 9 was 

subsequently amended in October 2010 to include 

requirements for the classification and measurement 

of financial liabilities and for de-recognition, and in 

November 2013 to include the new requirements for 

general hedge accounting. Another revised version 

of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include 

a) impairment requirements for financial assets 

and b) limited amendments to the classification 

and measurement requirements by introducing a 

“fair value through other comprehensive income” 

(FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple 

debt instruments.

 Key requirements of IFRS 9:

* All recognized financial assets that are within the 

scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement are required to be subsequently 

measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, 

debt investments that are held within a business 

model whose objective is to collect the contractual 

cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the outstanding principal are generally measured at 

amortized cost at the end of subsequent reporting 

periods. Debt instruments that are held within a 

business model whose objective is achieved by 

both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets, and that have contractual terms 

of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on outstanding principal, are measured 

at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity investments 

are measured at fair value at the end of subsequent 

reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities 

may make an irrevocable election to present 

subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity 

investment (that is not held for trading) in other 

comprehensive income with only dividend income 

generally recognized in profit or loss.

* With regard to the measurement of financial 

liabilities designated as at fair value through profit 

or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change 

in the fair value of the financial liability that is 

attributable to changes in the credit risk of the 

liability is presented in other comprehensive 

income, unless the recognition of the effect of 

the changes of the liability’s credit risk in other 

comprehensive income would create or enlarge 
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an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Under 

IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in fair value 

of a financial liability designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and 

adopted in the current year (continued)

* In relation to the impairment of financial assets, 

IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as 

opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 

39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity 

to account for expected credit losses and changes 

in those expected credit losses at each reporting 

date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 

recognition. It is therefore no longer necessary for 

a credit event to have occurred before credit losses 

are recognized.

* The new general hedge accounting requirements 

retain the three types of hedge accounting 

mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under 

IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced 

to the types of transactions eligible for hedge 

accounting, specifically broadening the types of 

instruments that qualify for hedging instruments 

and the types of risk components of non-financial 

items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In 

addition, the effectiveness test has been replaced 

with the principal of an “economic relationship”. 

Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness 

is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure 

requirements about an entity’s risk management 

activities have also been introduced.

  

 The effective date of the standard is for years 

beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

 The Board has adopted the standard for the first 

time in the 2018 financial statements.

 The impact of the standard is not material.

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 

18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs; 

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of Real 

Estate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers 

and SIC 31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving 

Advertising Services. 

 The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity 

recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an 

amount that reflects the consideration to which the 

entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. An entity recognizes revenue in 

accordance with that core principle by applying the 

following steps:

* Identify the contract(s) with a customer

* Identify the performance obligations in the contract

* Determine the transaction price

* Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract.

* Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies 

a performance obligation.

 IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure 

requirements.

 The effective date of the standard is for years 

beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

 The company has adopted the standard for the first 

time in the 2018 financial statements.

 The impact of the standard is not material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HISTORICAL
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 2020 2019

Cost or 

revaluation

Accumulated 

depreciation
Carrying value

Cost or 

revaluation

Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Land 10,505,636 - 10,505,636 6,875,315 - 6,875,315

Buildings 299,184,301 (1,485,552) 297,698,749 68,300,000 - 68,300,000

Furniture and fixtures 3,540,551 (583,525) 2,957,026 595,666 (330,396) 265,270

Motor vehicles 55,542,045 (2,589,960) 52,952,085 2,108,169 (1,527,487) 580,683

Office equipment 102,158 (62,502) 39,656 79,273 (50,330) 28,944

IT equipment 9,659,286 (3,691,342) 5,967,944 3,211,756 (2,484,882) 726,873

Other property, plant and 

equipment
2,739,521 (245,254) 2,494,266 58,409 (21,177) 37,232

Capital work in progress 476,467 - 476,467 476,467 - 476,467

Total 381,749,964 (8,658,135) 373,091,829 81,705,055 (4,414,273) 77,290,784

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2020

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposal Depreciation
Impairment 

reversal
Revaluation Carrying value

Land 6,875,315 - - - - 3,630,321 10,505,636

Buildings 68,300,000 35,372 - (1,485,552) _ 230,848,928 297,698,749

Furniture and fixtures 265,270 2,944,885 - (253,129) - - 2,957,026

Motor vehicles 580,683 53,559,956 (63,040) (1,125,513) - - 52,952,085

Office equipment 28,944 22,885 - (12,172) - - 39,656

IT equipment 726,873 6,836,015 (315,479) (1,279,467) - - 5,967,944

Other property, plant and 

equipment
37,232 2,681,112 - (224,077) - - 2,494,266

Capital work in progress 476,467 - - - - - 476,467

Total 77,290,784 66,080,225 (378,519) (4,379,910) - 234,479,249 373,091,829

The fair value of the building at 429 Gleneagles Road was determined to be $392,575,680 by Robert Root Property 

Consultants as at 31 December 2020. 
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3. Property, plant and equipment (HISTORICAL, continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant 
and equipment - 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation
Impairment 

loss
Revaluation

Carrying 
value

Land 575,316 - - - - 6,299,999 6,875,315

Buildings 3,284,408 299,742 - (76,259) 16,429,269 48,362,840 68,300,000

Furniture and fixtures 270,913 68,251 - (73,894) - - 265,270

Motor vehicles 857,237 46,780 (4,359) (318,975) - - 580,682

Office equipment 13,223 21,500 - (5,779) - - 28,943

IT equipment 968,567 531,096 (1,461) (771,329) - - 726,874

Other property, plant and 

equipment
4,115 36,107 - (2,990) - - 37,231

Capital work in progress 476,467 - - - - - 476,467

Total 6,450,246 1,114,335 (5,820) (1,49,226) 16,429,269 54,662,839 77,290,782

INFLATION ADJUSTED
3. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 2020 2019

Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying value
Cost or 

revaluation
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying value

Land 10,505,636 - 10,505,636 30,083,000 - 30,083,000

Buildings 297,698,748 - 297,698,748 307,009,401 - 307,009,401

Furniture and fixtures 25,042,303 14,964,722) 10,077,581 20,695,244 (12,670,513) 8,024,731

Motor vehicles 192,135,486 (103,338,356) 88,797,130 79,868,619 (58,938,992) 20,929,627

Office equipment 2,669,398 (2,077,595) 591,803 2,568,932 (1,906,621) 662,312

IT equipment 116,806,429 (100,754,364) 16,052,065 108,032,991 (94,952,134) 13,080,857

Other property, plant and 

equipment
8,054,981 (3,346,881) 4,708,100 1,155,035 (765,296) 389,738

Capital work in progress 18,419,672 - 18,419,672 18,419,672 - 18,419,672

Total 671,332,652 (224,481,917) 446,850,735 567,832,893 (169,233,555) 398,599,337



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TOBACCO INDUSTRY AND MARKETING BOARD
Annual Report 2020

43

For the year ended 31 December 2020

3. Property, plant and equipment (INFLATION ADJUSTED, continued)

Reconciliation of property, 
plant, and equipment - 2020

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposal Depreciation
Impairment 

reversal
Revaluation

Carrying 
value

Land 30,083,000 - - - - (19,577,364) 10,505,636

Buildings 307,009,401 - - - - (9,310,652) 297,698,748

Furniture and fixtures 8,024,731 4,347,059 - (2,294,209) - - 10,077,581

Motor vehicles 20,929,627 112,340,624 (73,757) (44,399,364) - - 88,797,130

Office equipment 662,312 100,465 - (170,974) - - 591,803

IT equipment 13,080,857 9,123,992 (350,554) (5,802,230) - - 16,052,065

Other property, plant and 

equipment
389,738 6,899,946 - (2,581,585) - - 4,708,100

Capital work in progress 18,419,672 - - - - - 18,419,672

Total 393,599,337 132,812,086 (424,311) (55,248,362) - (28,888,016) 446,850,735

Reconciliation of property, 
plant and equipment - 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Revaluation Impairment 
loss

Carrying 
value

Land 22,241,090 - - - 7,841,910 - 30,083,000

Buildings 155,523,339 1,345,842 - - 150,140,221 - 307,009,401

Furniture and fixtures 10,185,655 564,771 - (2,725,694) - - 8,024,731

Motor vehicles 32,925,709 399,080 (168,524) (12,226,639) - - 20,929,627

Office equipment 483,757 363,421 - (184,866) - - 662,312

IT equipment 37,180,460 4,662,727 (56,482) (28,705,849) - - 13,080,857

Other property, plant and 

equipment

159,062 292,880 (62,204) (62,204) - - 389,738

Capital work in progress 18,419,672 - - - - - 18,419,672

Total 277,118,745 7,628,720 (287,209) (43,905,252) 157,982,130 - 398,599,337
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3a. Right of use asset

Right of use asset        Inflation adjusted Historical

                             2020          2019        2020 2019

Initial recognition                      2,792,427   2,792,427   110,859 110,859

Remeasurement                      3,916,683 - 2,121,694 -

Accumulated amortisation                   (1,988,695)  (808,592) (634,287) (32,101)

Balance at the end of the year                     4,720,415  1,983,835 1,598,266 78,758

INFLATION ADJUSTED
4. Investment property

2020 2019

 Cost or revaluation Carrying value Cost or revaluation Carrying value

Investment property   94,876,931 94,876,931 71,840,000 71,840,000

Reconciliation of Investment 
property 2020

      Opening balance Additions
Fair value re-
measurement

Total

Investment property                   71,840,000  2,424,159      20,612,773 94,876,931

Reconciliation of Investment property 2019     Opening balance
Fair value re-
measurement

Total

Investment property                11,799,000      60,041,000 71,840,000

Capital work in progress of ZWL$476 467 consists of land purchase costs for regional offices done in 2011 and 

2013, and consultancy costs for the design of the stands done in 2014. The stands were purchased with the 

intention of future construction of regional offices.

The investment property portion of the building at 429 Gleneagles Road, was determined to be ZWL$94,876,931 

by Robert Root Property Consultancy as at 31 December 2020. The investment property portion of the building, 

being the 2nd and 3rd floors, remain unoccupied.
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HISTORICAL
Investment property

   2020 2019

Cost or revaluation Carrying value
           Cost or 

revaluation
Carrying value

Investment property                94,876,931 94,876,931      16,000,000 16,000,000

Reconciliation of investment property - 2020

      Opening balance     Additions
Fair value re-

measurement
Total

Investment property                16,000,000      2,424,159         76,452,773 94,876,931

Reconciliation of investment property - 2019

      Opening balance
 Fair value re-    

measurement
Total

Investment property                 1,900,000         14,100,000 16,000,000

Investment property is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. Any subsequent gain or loss in 

fair value is recognized through profit or loss.

5.   Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical

       2020 2019 2020 2019

Special projects loan

Special projects loan 36,917,747   296,720 36,917,747 66,085

These are funds which were advanced to Special Projects from the Tobacco Industry & Marketing Board budget. The 

funds will be recovered during the 2021 tobacco selling season.
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6. Staff loans 

Long term portion

Amount owed at year end 13,909,596 11,889,319 13,909,596 2,647,955

Current portion

Amount owed at year end 1,569,579 1,557,867 1,569,579 365,462

The balance represents short term and long-term loans that were given to employees. Interest on the loans is 

charged at 9% per annum from the date of receipt and is calculated on a month-on-month basis. The loans are 

repayable over 4 months for short term, and 5 years for long term. Credit mitigation is employed by the Board 

through taking collateral in the form of title deeds and mortgage bonds over residential property.

7.    Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical
    2020        2019 2020 2019

Trade and other receivables
Financial instruments:

Trade receivables 97,482,686 23,689,108 97,482,686 5,275,971

Loss allowance (826,192) (7,346,725) (826,192) (1,636,242)

Trade receivables at amortised cost 96,656,493 16,342,383 96,656,493 3,639,729

Drip irrigation and rocket barns loans 3,063,212 8,873,439 3,063,212 1,976,267

Loss allowance (559,956) (2,804,153) (559,956) (624,533)

Amortised cost 2,503,255 6,069,286 2,503,255 1,351,734

Salary advances 622 27,979 622 6,231

Non-financial instruments:

VAT - 13,315 - 2,966

Prepayments 25,108,982 6,619,534 25,108,982 1,474,284

Total Trade and other receivables 124,269,352 6,632,850 124,269,352 6,474,944

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets 7,931 223,880 7,931 49,862

Current assets 124,261,421 28,848,619 124,261,421 6,425,082

124,269,352 29,072,498 124,269,352 6,474,944

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

At amortised cost 99,160,370 22,439,648 99,160,370 4,997,695

Non-financial instruments 25,108,982 6,632,850 25,108,982 1,477,249

124,269,352 29,072,498 124,269,352 6,474,944
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Trade and other receivables are made up of balances due from merchants and farmers. The amounts from farmers 

will be recovered from the farmer proceeds from their 2021 tobacco via an automated stop order system and the 

amounts from merchants are recovered through the payment of export permit fees. 

The expected lifetime credit losses recovery basis for farmers has been used to determine allowance for credit 

losses.

8.  Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical

2020 2019 2020 2019

a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 167,673 302,157 167,673 67,296

Bank balances 132,622,511 110,236,536 132,622,511 24,551,567

Short term deposits 58,971,228 118,210,291 58,971,228 26,327,459

Bank overdraft - (489) - (109)

191,761,412 228,748,496 191,761,412 50,946,213

Current assets 191,761,412 228,748,985 191,761,412 50,946,322

Current liabilities - (489) - (109)

191,761,412 228,748,496 191,761,412 50,946,213

The short-term deposits represent short term money market investments that are held with nine commercial banks, over 

periods ranging between thirty and ninety days. The banks are Agribank, BancABC, CABS, CBZ Bank, Ecobank, FBC Bank, 

Infrastructural Development Bank of Zimbabwe, NMB, and ZB Bank.

b) Investment in bonds

Opening Bond value 6,804,969 - 1,515,583 -

Bonds Purchased 37,690,868 6,804,969 41,196,771 1,515,583

Bonds Sold/Redeemed (3,515,021) - (1,731,537) -

Closing Bond Value 40,980,817 6,804,969 40,980,817 1,515,583

Bonds investments consist of the CICADA debentures of $18,597,634 which have a base coupon interest of 30% p.a., maturing 

on 27/09/2021, and First Mutual Bond Investment of $22,363,014 which has an interest of 40% p.a. maturing on 31/03/2021.
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c) Listed securities

Opening value 262,952 169,079 58,564 37,657

Purchase of shares at cost 20,620,525 - 10,157,894 -

Sale of shares at cost (19,279) - (9,497) -

Closing Value before Fair Value Movement 20,864,199 169,079 10,206,962 37,657

Fair Value Movements (5,276,605) 93,873 5,380,633 20,907

Closing value 15,587,594 262,952 15,587,594 58,564

9 Net Liability from special projects

9.1 Tobacco Afforestation Levy Fund

 The Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board received tobacco afforestation levy funds from ZIMRA, which are yet 

to be utilized, pending authorization of the commencement of operations of an afforestation levy committee by 

the Ministry of Lands, Agriculture, Water, and Rural Resettlement.

 Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board meanwhile has invested the afforestation levy funds in money market 

investments with the CBZ Bank, ZB Bank, NMB Bank, Agribank, CABS, FBC Bank and the Infrastructural 

Development Bank of Zimbabwe. 

9.2 Tobacco Inputs Credit Scheme

 The Tobacco Industry and Marketing Board received funds from the Reserve Bank for the purpose of procurement 

of inputs to be distributed to small scale tobacco farmers.

 A memorandum of agreement was signed between Tobacco Industry Marketing Board, Agribank and the 

Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe for the purpose of Tobacco Funding Facility for supporting the financing of small-

scale farmers. The total facility for 2019 was US$ 86 800 000.00, constituted as follows-:

a). US $16 763 451.00 being the amount rolled over from 2018,

b). US $ 50 900 000.00, to be disbursed to Agribank for on-lending as agent of the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe 

for procurement of inputs, and

c). US$ 19 100 000.00 to be disbursed to Agribank for on-lending as borrower for funding of infrastructure 

(curing barns and irrigation) by eligible farmers.

 Another MoU was signed between TIMB, Homelink Finance and the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe for the purpose 

of Tobacco Funding Facility for supporting the financing of tobacco small scale farmers. The total facility for 

2019 was ZWL$126 100 000.00, repayable after 15 months.
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 During the year 2020 the Board entered into an agreement with Agribank to take over the Homelink Facility 

balance amounting to ZWL$94,043,269.05. This amount was equivalent to the value of stocks purchased locally 

that was distributed to tobacco farmers during the 2020 tobacco farming season. The loan amount will be 

recovered from farmers through their 2021 tobacco sales proceeds.

 A memorandum of agreement was signed between Tobacco Industry & Marketing Board and three tobacco 

merchants, Curverid Tobacco (Private) Limited, Consolidated Tobacco Processors (Private) Limited, and 

Zimbabwe Leaf Tobacco Company (Private) Limited, for the purpose of supporting the Tobacco Funding Facility 

with US dollars for imported inputs. The total facility for 2019 was USD13 133 000.00, repayable after 15 months.

 During the year 2020 USD2,125,960.93 was paid off through loan recoveries from tobacco farmers, and 

USD9,859,408.69 was paid off through Agribank bank facility. The loan amount taken over by Agribank 

represented value of imported stocks that were distributed to tobacco farmers during the 2020 tobacco farming 

season. As at 31 December 2020, the Board owed USD1,595,808.41 to the three merchants. The loan amount will 

be recovered from farmers from their 2021 tobacco sales proceeds.
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Tobacco Inputs Credit Scheme

The following is a list of the assets and liabilities pertaining to afforestation levy and special projects as at 31 

December 2020:

Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical

2020 2019 2020 2019

Afforestation Levy

Investments in money market 10,412,907 34,280,020 10,412,907 7,634,748

CBZ Call account 68,607 9,174,159 68,607 2,043,243

CBZ bank balance 281,751 1,479,844 281,751 329,587

Afforestation levy fund (10,555,247) (44,069,686) (10,555,247) (9,815,075)

208,018 864,336 208,018 192,503

Special Projects:

Finance scheme stocks 28,581,383 27,997,871 28,581,383 6,235,606

Customer control account 50,751,136 5,670,620 50,751,136 1,262,944

Scheme debtors 790,489,424 249,882,072 790,489,424 55,653,023

Prepayments 209,274,563 972,200,783 209,274,563 216,525,787

Agribank bank balance 341,922 1,565,722 341,922 348,713

CBZ bank balance 6,245,252 202,934,021 6,245,252 45,196,887

Cash on Hand 8,179 - 8,179 -

Ecocash Bulkpayer 714,003 - 714,003 -

Sundry suppliers (4,163,053) (1,334,503) (4,163,053) (297,217)

Merchants Nostro Facility (A) (130,515,744) (936,686,764) (130,515,744) (208,616,206)

RBZ/Agribank (B) (102,131,662) (158,231,813) (102,131,662) (35,240,938)

RBZ/Homelink (C) - (382,688,167 - (85,231,218)

Agribank Facility (D) (819,956,301) - (819,956,301)

Allowance for credit losses (E) (80,626,930) (54,721,288) (80,626,930) (12,187,369)

Intercompany loan (36,917,747) (296,724) (36,917,747) (66,086)

(87,697,556) (72,843,833) (87,697,556) (16,223,571)

Opening net liability (72,843,833) (52,395,733) (16,223,571) (1,879,135)

Net Liability from special projects 14,853,724 20,448,099 71,473,986 14,344,436

Reconciliation

Opening balance 72,843,833 52,395,733 16,223,571 1,879,136

Movement 14,853,724 20,448,099 71,473,986 14,344,436

Closing balance 87,697,556 72,843,833 87,697,556 16,223,573
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9.2 Tobacco Inputs Credit Scheme (continued)

a). The following are some of the conditions from the 2019 Tobacco Merchants/TIMB Facility agreement-:

* The Tobacco Merchants to provide Nostro funding required for tobacco inputs (fertilizers and chemicals).

* TIMB to ensure that all tobacco supported under the scheme will be bought by the three merchants.

* Ten percent (10%) interest is payable to the merchants.

* The merchants will recover the loan amount through tobacco purchases.

* TIMB shall bear default risk by the farmers supported under the scheme.

b) The following are some of the conditions from the 2017 RBZ/AGRIBANK/TIMB Facility agreement-:

* The funds for working capital requirements shall be disbursed to Agribank upon request.

* Agribank shall disburse funds to TIMB only for the purposes of procurement of inputs, in order to enhance 

tobacco production in Zimbabwe.

* Where Agribank shall receive funds for procurement of inputs as agent, it shall on-lend the funds at the rate of 

ten percent (10%) per annum to be applied as follows-:

a) Two percent (2%) for the account of the Agent.

b) Three percent (3%) for the account of the Principal, and

c) Five percent (5%) for the account of the Client.

* The Reserve Bank shall bear the risk in respect of funds disbursed for purposes of procurement of inputs, and 

Agribank’s role shall include-:

a) Administration of the facility, and

b). Collecting and receiving repayments from TIMB and small-scale tobacco farmers.

* Where Agribank receives funds for on-lending for working capital requirements, it shall lend at the rate of ten 

percent (10%) per annum to be applied and distributed as follows:-

a)    Five percent (5%) for the account of the Borrower.

b)    Three percent (3%) for the account of the Lender, and

c)     Two percent (2%) for the account of the Client.

* Agribank shall bear the risk of lending funds for working capital requirements to small-scale tobacco farmers.

* Agribank shall ensure that funds lent will be applied for purposes contemplated in this agreement, and shall, 

among other roles, provide the necessary support to small scale tobacco farmers and collect and receive 

repayments.

* Unless the facility is earlier terminated by the parties, the facility shall be repaid in full within 15 months from the 
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effective date of this agreement (21 August 2017).

c). The following are some of the conditions from the 2019 RBZ/HOMELINK/TIMB Facility agreement-:

* Homelink shall disburse funds to TIMB only for the purposes of procurement of inputs, and provision of working 

capital, in order to enhance tobacco production in Zimbabwe.

* Where Homelink shall receive funds for procurement of inputs as agent, it shall on-lend the funds at the rate of 

twelve percent (12%) per annum to be applied as follows-:

 a) Four percent (4%) for the account of the Agent.

 b) Three percent (3%) for the account of the Principal, and

 c) Five percent (5%) for the account of the Client.

* The Reserve Bank shall bear the risk in respect of funds disbursed for purposes of procurement of inputs.

D) The following are some of the conditions from the 2019 Agribank /TIMB Facility agreement -:

* Agribank shall take over part of the 2019 Tobacco Merchant loan that is equivalent to inputs that were on hand 

and available for distribution during the 2020 tobacco season. 

* Agribank shall receive funds for procurement of inputs as agent, it shall on-lend the funds at the rate of ten 

percent (10%) per annum to be applied as follows-:

 a) Four percent (2%) for the account of the Agent.

 b) Three percent (3%) for the account of the Principal, and

 c) Five percent (5%) for the account of the Client.

*  The Reserve Bank shall bear the risk in respect of funds disbursed for purposes of procurement of inputs.

 e) The Allowance For Credit Losses -:                    2020           2019

     

 TIMB Portion (for 2019 Tobacco Merchants/TIMB Facility A)                              80,626,930     12,187,369

 RBZ and Agribank Portion (for 2017 RBZ/Agribank/TIMB Facility B)                   14,797,417       -

 2019 RBZ/ Homelink /TIMB (Facility C)                  -       -

RBZ/Agribank Portion (for 2019 Agribank /TIMB Facility D)                   118,799,941              - 

Total                                214,224,288    12,187,369

       The allowance for credit losses is based on the lifetime expected credit loss model, due to a significant 

        increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the funds disbursed as loans to tobacco farmer
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10. Provisions

INFLATION ADJUSTED

Reconciliation of provisions - 2020 Opening      
balance        Additions Utilised during 

the year            Total

Staff provisions 14,141,027 35,825,623 - 49,966,650

Reconciliation of provisions - 2019 Opening
balance Additions Utilised during 

the year Total

Staff provisions 8,407,865 5,733,162 - 14,141,027

Registration fees provision 556,320 - (556,320) -

8,964,185 5,733,162 (556,320) 14,141,027

HISTORICAL

Reconciliation of provisions - 2020 Opening 
balance

Additions Utilised during 
the year

Total

Staff provisions 3,149,449 46,817,201 - 49,966,650

Registration fees provision - - - -

3,149,449 46,817,201 - 49,966,650

Reconciliation of provisions - 2019 Opening
balance

Additions Utilised during 
the year

Total

Staff provisions 301,542 2,847,907 - 3,149,449

Registration fees provision 19,952 - (19,952) -

321,494 2,847,907 (19,952) 3,149,449

The staff provisions represent management’s best estimate of the Board’s liability relating to staff bonuses for the 

year 2020 which are expected to be paid for in full in 2021.
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Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical

       2020 2019 2020 2019

11 Lease liability

Current 1,182,390 137,982 1,182,390 30,731

Non-current 555,795 240,906 555,795 53,654

1,738,185 378,889 1,738,185 84,385

The Board adopted IFRS 16, which requires a lease liability to be recognised for contracts that contain a lease. The 

lease liability represents the present value of the remaining lease payments of the operating lease. The board is 

leasing office buildings, for administrative use, the remaining lease terms vary between 2 and 3 years.

12. Trade and other payables

Financial Instruments:

Trade payables 27,211,607 4,512,695 27,211,607 1,005,055

Loan refunds and repayments 543,583 24,269 543,583 5,405

Non-financial instruments:

Amounts received in advance 122,419,962 36,597,339 122,419,962 8,150,855

150,175,153 41,134,303 150,175,153 9,161,315

13. Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

Registration fees and licences 57,025,893 819,716,480 16,529,534 90,097,362

Sundry income 543,632 963,240 323,924 149,037

57,569,525 820,679,721 16,853,458 90,246,398

Revenue other than from contracts with customers

Dividends received 160,285 14 157,894 3

57,729,810 820,679,734 17,011,352 90,246,401

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The company disaggregates revenue from customers as follows:

Rendering of services

Fees earned 553,531,328 508,769,610 402,176,995 67,361,066

Levy contributions and penalties 205,641,688 310,946,883 153,970,618 22,736,296

759,173,016 819,716,493 556,147,612 90,097,362

Other Revenue

Sundry income 387,021 963,240 283,430,941 149,037

759,560,037 820,679,734 556,430,941 90,246,398
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Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical

    2020 2019 2020 2019

14. Other operating income

Exchange gain 3,036,041 7,538,661 2,287,453 696,313

Reversal of impairment 1,984,876 73,767,416 1,984,876 16,429,269

Fair value gain 20,612,773 63,309,000 76,452,773 14,100,000

25,633,690 144,615,077 80,725,102 31,225,582

15. Other operating profit or loss

Included in other operating expenses are the following disclosable items

Auditor’s remuneration - external

Audit fees 8,871,769 248,137 2,021,302 55,264

Employee costs

Salaries, bonuses and allowances 270,742,240 262,604,608 210,687,930 28,555,251

Staff benefits 21,018,417 16,238,934 13,216,554 712,203

Manpower development and training 2,507,569 4,969,157 1,816,355 267,487

Retirement benefits plans: defined contribution expense 7,617,396 17,251,192 3,856,066 1,652,770

Total employee costs 301,885,622 301,063,891 229,576,905 31,187,711

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 56,428,465 44,713,844 4,982,097 1,281,327

Other

Research and development costs - 28,212 - 4,998

Directors’ remuneration

Sitting fees and allowances 4,113,984 6,056,681 3,137,288 386,182

16. Finance costs

Current borrowings - - - -

Interest paid 27,323 98,623 9,438 17,019

27,323 98,623 9,438 17,019



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TOBACCO INDUSTRY AND MARKETING BOARD
Annual Report 2020

56

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Figures in ZWL ($)   Inflation adjusted              Historical

2020    2019 2020 2019

17. Contingencies

There were no contingencies as at 31 December 2020.

Related parties

Relationships-:

Mr. P. Devenish      Board Chairperson, Non- Executive

Mrs. N. Dube      Non-Executive Director

Mr. R. Webb      Non-Executive Director

Mr. P. Mambiri      Non-Executive Director

Lt. Gen. (Rtd) Dr. E.A. Rugeje    Non-Executive Director

Mrs. M. Munyonga     Non-Executive Director

Mr. B. Mache      Non-Executive Director

Dr A.E. Matibiri      Executive Director

Ms. F. Munatswa      Key management

Mr. M. Gudu      Key management

18. Related party balances

Amounts included in other receivables:

Loan balances – Key management 1,016,871      617,689 1,016,871   137,569

Special projects loans:

Loan balances – Non-Executive Directors - - - -

Loan balances – Key management - 572,749 - 127,561

19. Related party transactions

Short term employee benefits – Key management 26,777,777 12,523,104 19,394,582 2,789,110

Sitting fees and allowances – Non-Executive Directors 4,113,984 1,733,957 3,138,688 386,182
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20. Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial instruments

INFLATION ADJUSTED

2020 2019

Categories of financial 

assets
Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value

Amortised 
cost

Total Fair value

Loans to special projects 5 36,917,747 36,917,747 - 296,720 296,720 -

Loans receivable 6 15,479,175 15,479,175 - 13,447,186 13,447,186 -

Trade and other 

receivables
7 124,269,352 124,269,352 124,269,352 29,072,498 29,072,498 29,072,498

Cash and cash equivalents 8 191,761,412 191,761,412 191,761,412 228,748,496 228,748,496 228,748,496

368,427,686 368,427,686 316,030,765 271,564,900 271,564,900 257,748,496

HISTORICAL

2020 2019

Categories of financial 

assets
Note(s) Amortised cost Total Fair value

Amortised 
cost

Total Fair value

Loans to special projects 5 36,917,747 36,917,747 - 66,085 66,085 -

Loans receivable 6 15,479,175 15,479,175 - 2,994,919 2,994,919 -

Trade and other receivables 7 124,269,352 124,269,352 124,269,352 6,474,944 6,474,944 6,474,944

Cash and cash equivalents 8 191,761,412 191,761,412 191,761,412 50,946,213 50,946,213 50,946,213

368,427,686 368,427,686 316,030,765 60,482,160 60,482,160 57,421,157
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Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Capital risk management

The Board’s objective when managing capital (which includes borrowings, working capital and cash and cash 

equivalents) is to maintain a flexible capital structure that reduces the cost of capital to an acceptable level of risk 

and to safeguard the Board’s ability to continue as a going concern while taking advantage of strategic opportunities 

in order to maximize stakeholder returns and sustainably.

The capital structure and gearing ratio of the board at the reporting date was as follows-:

Figures in ZWL ($) Inflation adjusted Historical

2020 2019 2020 2019

Borrowings - - - -

Trade and other payables 12 150,175,153 41,134,304 150,175,153 9,161,315

Total borrowings 150,175,153 41,134,304 150,175,153 9,161,315

Cash and cash equivalents 8 (191,761,412) (228,748,496) (191,761,412) (50,946,213)

Net borrowings (41,586,259) (187,614,192) (41,586,259) (41,784,898)

Equity 548,268,812 622,557,942 471,395,688 126,825,627

Gearing ratio (8%) (30%) (9%) (33%)
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Financial risk management

Overview

The company is exposed to the following risks from its 

use of financial instruments:

Credit risk;

Liquidity risk; and

Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price 

risk).

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the board if a 

customer or counterpart to a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations.

The board is exposed to credit risk on loans receivable, 

debt instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, trade and other receivables, 

contract receivables, lease receivables, cash and 

cash equivalents, loan commitments and financial 

guarantees.

Credit risk for exposures other than those arising on 

cash and cash equivalents, are managed by making use 

of credit approvals, limits and monitoring. The board 

only deals with reputable counterparts with consistent 

payment histories. Sufficient collateral or guarantees 

are also obtained when necessary. Each counterpart is 

analyzed individually for creditworthiness before terms 

and conditions are offered. The analysis involves making 

use of information submitted by the contraries as well 

as external bureau data (where available). Counterpart 

credit limits are in place and are reviewed and approved 

by credit management committees. The exposure to 

credit risk and the creditworthiness of counterparts is 

continuously monitored. 

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash 

equivalents is managed by the board through dealing 

with well-established financial institutions with high 

credit ratings. 

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are 

recognized for all debt instruments, excluding those 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. Credit loss 

allowances are also recognized for loan commitments 

and financial guarantee contracts. 

In order to calculate credit loss allowances, 

management determine whether the loss allowances 

should be calculated on a 12 month or on a lifetime 

expected credit loss basis. This determination depends 

on whether there has been a significant increase in 

the credit risk since initial recognition. If there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk, then the loss 

allowance is calculated based on lifetime expected 

credit losses. If not, then the loss allowance is based on 

12 month expected credit losses. This determination is 

made at the end of each financial period. Therefore the 

basis of the loss allowance for a specific financial asset 

could change year on year.

Management apply the principle that if a financial 

asset’s credit risk is low at year end, then, by implication, 

the credit risk has not increased significantly since 

initial recognition. In all such cases, the loss allowance 

is based on 12 month expected credit losses. Credit risk 

is assessed as low if there is a low risk of default (where 

default is defined as occurring when amounts are 90 

days past due). When determining the risk of default, 

management consider information such as payment 

history to date, industry in which the customer is 

employed, period for which the customer has been 

employed, external credit references etc. In any event, 

if amounts are 30 days past due, then the credit risk 

is assumed to have increased significantly since initial 

recognition. 

Credit risk is not assessed to be low simply because 

of the value of collateral associated with a financial 

instrument. If the instrument would not have a low 

credit risk in the absence of collateral, then the credit 
risk is not considered low when taking the collateral 
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into account. Trade receivable and contract assets which do not contain a significant financing component are the 

exceptions and are discussed below.

Where necessary, the assessment for a significant increase in credit risk is made on a collective basis. Management 

typically adopt this approach when information relevant to the determination of credit risk is not available on an 

individual instrument level. Often, the only information available on individual instruments which could indicate an 

increase in credit risk, is “past due” information. It is typical that more forward-looking information is generally more 

readily available on a collective basis. 

Therefore, making the determination on a collective basis, helps to ensure that credit loss allowances are determined 

on the basis of lifetime expected credit losses before they reach the point of being past due. Forward looking, 

macro-economic information is applied on a collective basis when it is readily available without undue cost or 

effort. When loss allowances are determined on a collective basis, management determines the loss allowances by 

grouping financial instruments on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers 

on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no 

independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, 

past experience and other factors. Individual risk is set based on internal or external rating in accordance with limits 

set by the board. The utilization of the credit limits is regularly monitored. Credit guarantee insurance is purchased 

when deemed appropriate.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk are presented in the table below:

2020 2019

Notes
Gross carrying 

amount
Credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost/fair value

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost/fair 

value

Loans to special projects 5 36,917,747 - 36,917,747 66,085 - 66,085

Loans receivable 6 15,479,175 - 15,479,175 2,994,919 - 2,994,919

Trade and other receivables 7 124,269,352 - 124,269,352 6,474,944 - 6,474,944

Cash and cash equivalents 8 191,761,412 - 191,761,412 50,946,213 - 50,946,213

368,427,686 - 368,427,686 60,482,160 - 60,482,160

Liquidity risk 

The board is exposed to liquidity risk, which is the risk that the board will encounter difficulties in meeting its 

obligations as they become due. 

The board manages its liquidity risk by effectively managing its working capital, capital expenditure and cash flows. 

The financing requirements are met through a mixture of cash generated from operations and long and short-term 
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borrowings. Committed borrowing facilities are available for meeting liquidity requirements and deposits are held 

at central banking institutions.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial assets held to 

mitigate the risk, are presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted contractual amounts.

INFLATION ADJUSTED

2020 Less than 1 
year

1 to 2 years Total Carrying 
amount

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 27,211,607 - 27,211,607 27,211,607

Bank overdraft 8 - - - -

Liability from special projects 9 221,295,379 - 221,295,379 221,295,379

248,506,987 - 248,506,987 248,506,987

2019

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 4,512,695 - 4,512,695 4,512,695

Bank overdraft 8 489 - 489 489

Liability from special projects 9 72,843,833 - 72,843,833 72,843,833

77,357,016 - 77,357,016 77,357,016

2020

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 124,261,421 7,931 124,269,352 6,474,944

Cash and cash equivalents 8 191,761,412 - 191,761,412 191,761,412

316,022,834 7,931 316,030,765 316,030,765

2019

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 28,848,619 223,880 29,072,498 29,072,498

Cash and cash equivalents 8 228,748,496 - 228,748,496 228,748,496

257,597,115 223,880 257,820,995 257,820,995
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HISTORICAL

2020 Less than 1 
year

1 to 2 
years

Total Carrying 
amount

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 27,211,607 - 27,211,607 27,211,607

Bank overdraft 8 - - - -

Liability from special projects 9 221,295,379 - 221,295,379 221,295,379

248,506,987 - 248,506,987 248,506,987

2019

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 1,005,055 - 1,005,055 1,005,055

Bank overdraft 8 109 - 109 109

Liability from special projects 9 16,223,571 - 16,223,571 16,223,571

17,228,734 - 17,228,734 17,228,734

2020

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 124,261,421 7,931 124,269,352 6,474,944

Cash and cash equivalents 8 191,761,412 - 191,761,412 191,761,412

316,022,834 7,931 316,030,765 316,030,765

2019

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 6,425,082 49,862 6,474,944 2,473,958

Cash and cash equivalents 8 50,946,213 - 50,946,213 50,946,213

57,371,295 49,862 57,421,157 57,421,157

21. Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1:  Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can 

access at measurement date.

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly or indirectly. 

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Levels of fair value measurement

Figures in ZWL ($) Notes Inflation Adjusted Historical

  2020 2019 2020 2019

Level 1

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit (loss) – held for trading

Listed shares 15,587,594 262,952 15,587,594 58,564

Level 2

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets

Investment property

Investment property 4 94,876,931 71,840,000 94,876,931 16,000,000

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 3 297,698,749 307,009,401 297,698,749 68,300,000

Land 3 10,505,636 30,083,000 10,505,636 6,875,315

Total 403,081,316 408,932,401 403,081,316 91,175,315

Valuation techniques used to derive 

Level 2 fair values

Land and office buildings

Refer to Note 4 to the financial statements on the valuation techniques used. No changes have been made to the 

valuation technique from prior year.
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Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure as detailed from 2020 budget:

2020 

Motor vehicles and accessories 29,550,000

Office furniture and equipment 15,900,000

IT equipment and accessories 20,375,000

Regional offices 15,000,000

80,825,000

The committed expenditure relates to property and equipment, and will be financed by retained surplus, existing 

cash resources and funds internally generated.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 

This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realization of assets and 

settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Events after the reporting period

Special Projects

The administration for the Tobacco Inputs Credit Scheme may significantly change during the year 2021, due to 

the launch of the Land bank, a subsidiary of the Agricultural Finance Corporation (AFC) by the Government of 

Zimbabwe on 30 April 2021, which has been mandated to ensure provision of affordable financing to farmers. The 

Board anticipates that the inputs credit scheme will be taken over by the land bank.

The Coronavirus pandemic (COVID – 19)

On the 11th of April 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 as a global pandemic as a result 

of the scale and rising rate of infections across the globe. The World Bank estimates global economic activity to have 

contracted by 4.3% in 2020. As the virus continues to spread globally, new variants of the virus are being discovered. 

There is an introduction of mass vaccinations across the world and at a local level.

The Board believes that COVID-19 is likely to have a negative impact on the organizational performance. However, 

its impact is likely dependent on developments which include duration and spread of the outbreak, impact on our 

customers and employees. The related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
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